



New Jersey Lead Abatement Exam

Candidate Handbook
June 2019

Table of Contents

page ii

Contact Information

page iii

Scheduling

page 2

Exam Day

page 4

Content Outlines

pages 7-10

Test Center Locations

page 11

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CONTACT INFORMATIONiii
OVERVIEW iv
Background 1
Eligibility1
SCHEDULING 2
General Scheduling Information 2
Online Scheduling 2
Phone Scheduling 2
Examination Fees 2
Payment Options 2
Change/Cancel Policy 3
Accommodations 3
EXAM DAY 4
Absent/Lateness Policy 4
Weather Delays and Exam Cancellations 4
Examination Procedures 4
What to Bring to the Examination 5
Acceptable Forms of Candidate Identification 5
Tast Canter Policies 6

CONTENT OUTLINES 7
Lead Supervisor for Commercial Buildings and Superstructures
Lead Supervisor for Housing and Public Buildings
Lead Inspector
Lead Risk Assessor 10
Score Explanation 10
RETAKING THE EXAMINATION 10
GENERAL INFORMATION 11
Test Centers 11
Holiday Schedule

CONTACT INFORMATION

Contact the following agency for questions regarding:

INDIVIDUAL ELIGIBILITY, TRAINING AND PERMITS

New Jersey Department of Health Consumer, Environmental, and Occupational Health Service Environmental & Occupational Health Assessment Program

PO Box 372

Trenton, NJ 08625-0372

Phone

609-826-4950

Fax

609-826-4975

Website

https://www.nj.gov/health/ceohs/lead/

CONTRACTOR LICENSING INFORMATION

New Jersey Department of Community Affairs Division of Codes and Standards

PO Box 816

101 S. Broad Street, 4th Floor

Trenton, NJ 08625-0816

Phone

609-633-6224

Fax

609-633-1040

Website

http://www.state.nj.us/dca/divisions/codes/offices/leadhazard_abatement.html

THE EXAMINATION PROCESS

Pearson VUE/New Jersey Lead Program

Attn: Regulatory Program Coordinator

5601 Green Valley Drive

Bloomington, MN 55437

Phone

(800) 275-8346

Email

pearsonvuecustomerservice.com

Website

www.pearsonvue.com

OVERVIEW

The candidate handbook is a useful tool in preparing for an examination.

All individuals who wish to acquire a New Jersey Lead Supervisor for Housing and Public Buildings, Supervisor for Commercial Buildings and Superstructures, or Inspector/Risk Assessor Permit, must first complete New Jersey-approved training and second, successfully pass the third party examination recognized by the New Jersey Department of Health (NJDOH).

This candidate handbook contains information regarding the lead certification exams recognized by the NJDOH.

Individuals who wish to obtain a Lead Abatement Permit in the state of New Jersey must:

1. Meet all eligibility requirements.

Before taking an examination, candidates must meet all eligibility requirements. (See page 1 for additional details.)

2. Schedule an examination and pay the examination fee.

Schedule an examination either by phone or online with Pearson VUE (See page 2).

3. Go to the test center.

Go to the test center on the day of the examination, bringing along all required materials (*See page 5*).

BACKGROUND

Individuals who conduct lead-based paint activities in New Jersey must be permitted by the New Jersey Department of Health (NJDOH). The NJDOH permits the following disciplines:

HOUSING & PUBLIC BUILDINGS DISCIPLINES (HPB)	COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS & SUPERSTRUCTURES DISCIPLINES (CBS)
Workers	Workers
Supervisors	Supervisors
Inspector/Risk Assessors	
Planner/Project Designers	

Of the above disciplines, the two Supervisor disciplines and the Inspector/Risk Assessor discipline are required to take a third party examination after they successfully complete training. This candidate handbook outlines the information necessary to schedule and take those examinations.

Many states conform with the model lead program proposed by U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) model, in which the Inspector/Risk Assessor discipline is two separate disciplines instead of one. In NJ they are one discipline, however, in accordance with the model, the exams are administered separately. The fee for both portions of the exam is the same as for each of the supervisor exams (*see page 2* for more information on the exam fees).

ELIGIBILITY

To be eligible to take this examination, an individual must either:

- 1. Successfully complete a New Jersey Department of Health (NJDOH) certified lead training course; or
- 2. Have their non-NJ training approved by the NJDOH in accordance with NJ's reciprocity requirements.

To learn more about reciprocity, you may contact the NJDOH at (609) 826-4950 or go to https://www.nj.gov/health/ceohs/lead/.

SCHEDULING

GENERAL SCHEDULING INFORMATION

Online Scheduling

Candidates must go to http://www.pearsonvue.com/nj/lead/ to make an online reservation for an examination. First-time users are required to create an account. The candidate will need to fill in all required fields, which are preceded by an asterisk, on the online form in order to create an ID and be assigned a password. Step-by-step instructions will follow on how to make a reservation for an examination.

Candidates who wish to make an online reservation should do so at least twenty-four (24) hours before the desired examination date.

Phone Scheduling

Candidates may call Pearson VUE at (800) 275-8346 to make a reservation.

PEARSON VUE HOURS		
Monday – Friday	8 am – 11 pm	
Saturday	8 am – 5 pm	
Sunday	10 am – 4 pm	

Eastern Standard Time

Before calling, candidates should have the following:

- Candidate's legal name, address, and other demographic information
- The type of examination you wish to take (ie. Supervisor-HPB, Supervisor-CBS, Inspector/Risk Assessor)
- Preferred examination date and test center location (see page 11 for details)
- Payment (see pages 3 for details)

A representative will help candidates select a convenient examination date and location and will answer questions. A reservation will be made based on the next available examination date.

EXAMINATION FEES

The following fees apply to both first time examination takers and re-takers. Checks and money orders should be made payable to "Pearson VUE". Exam fees are as follows:

EXAM CODE	EXAM NAME	FIRST-TIME* EXAM FEES
34_NJ_Lead_01	NJ Inspector	\$70
34_NJ_Lead_02	NJ Risk Assessor	\$70 (If taking with the Inspector exam, no additional fee is required)
34_NJ_Lead_03	NJ Supervisor-HPB (Supervisor Housing)	\$70
34_NJ_Lead_04	Supervisor-BBS (Commercial Building)	\$70

Payment will not be accepted at the testing locations.

Payment Options

Once you have scheduled an examination, payment will be required. Payment options are as follows:

1. Credit Card

All major credit/debit cards are accepted. You will be required to provide a billing address, credit/debit card number, and card expiration date.

^{*} First time candidates may take Inspector & Risk Assessor at the same time for one \$70 fee. Retakers must pay \$70 for either exam.

2. Vouchers

Vouchers offer another convenient way to pay for tests. Vouchers can be purchased online at http://www.pearsonvue.com/vouchers/pricelist/njlead.asp by credit card either singly or in volume. To redeem a voucher as payment when scheduling a test, simply indicate voucher as the payment method and provide the voucher number. **All vouchers are pre-paid.**Vouchers are non-refundable and non-returnable.

Vouchers expire twelve (12) months from the date they are issued. Voucher expiration dates cannot be extended. The exam must be taken by the expiration date printed on the voucher.

3. Electronic Checks

Candidates who choose to pay the examination fee by electronic check must have a personal checking account, and must be prepared to provide to Pearson VUE at the time of reservation the following information:

- Bank name
- Account number
- · Routing number
- · Social Security number, state-ID number, or driver's license number
- Name and address on the account

Using this information, Pearson VUE can request payment from the candidate's bank account just as if the candidate had submitted an actual paper check.

Candidates paying by electronic check must register at least five (5) days before the examination date in order for their check to be processed.

CHANGE/CANCEL POLICY

Candidates should call Pearson VUE at 800-275-8346 at least forty-eight (48) hours before the examination to change or cancel a reservation. Candidates who change or cancel a reservation with proper notice may either transfer their fees to a new reservation or request a refund. Candidates who change or cancel their reservations without proper notice will forfeit the examination fee. Refunds for credit/debit cards are immediate, while refunds for electronic checks and vouchers will be processed in two to three (2-3) weeks. Candidates are individually liable for the full amount of the examination fee once a reservation has been made, whether individually or by a third party.

ACCOMMODATIONS

Pearson VUE complies with the provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act as amended. The purpose of accommodations is to provide candidates with full access to the test. Accommodations are not a guarantee of improved performance or test completion. Pearson VUE provides reasonable and appropriate accommodations to individuals with documented disabilities who demonstrate a need for accommodations.

Test accommodations may include things such as:

- A separate testing room
- Extra testing time
- A Reader or Recorder, for individuals with mobility or vision impairments and cannot read or write on their own

Test accommodations are individualized and considered on a case-by-case basis. All candidates who are requesting accommodations because of a disability must provide appropriate documentation of their condition and how it is expected to affect their ability to take the test under standard conditions. This may include:

- Supporting documentation from the professional who diagnosed the condition, including the credentials that qualify the professional to make this diagnosis
- A description of past accommodations the candidate has received

The steps to follow when requesting test accommodations vary, depending on your test program sponsor. To begin, go to http://pearsonvue.com/accommodations, and then select your test program sponsor from the alphabetized list. Candidates who have additional questions concerning test accommodations may contact the ADA Coordinator at accommodationspearsonvue@pearson.com.

EXAM DAY

ABSENCE/LATENESS POLICY

Candidates who are late to or absent from an examination may be excused for the following reasons:

- Illness of the candidate or of the candidate's immediate family member
- Death in the immediate family
- · Disabling traffic accident
- · Court appearance or jury duty
- Military duty
- Weather emergency

Candidates who are late to an examination will not be admitted and will forfeit the examination fee. Candidates who are absent from an examination and have not changed or canceled the reservation according to the *Change/Cancel Policy* will forfeit the examination fee. Written verification and supporting documentation for excused absences must be submitted to Pearson VUE within fourteen (14) days of the original examination date.

WEATHER DELAYS AND CANCELLATIONS

If severe weather or a natural disaster makes travel to the test center inaccessible or unsafe, the examination may be delayed or cancelled. Pearson VUE will attempt to contact each candidate via phone or e-mail as soon as they become aware of an issue.

EXAMINATION PROCEDURES

Candidates should report to the Pearson VUE Center thirty (30) minutes before the exam is scheduled, to complete registration. When candidates arrive, they should check in with the test center manager and present their, identification, and proof of NJ approved training (see *What to Bring to the Examination*, on page 6). The manager will review this documentation and photograph each candidate for his/her score report.

Candidates must agree to abide by the Pearson VUE and NJ Department of Health's test center security policies. The security policies are presented at the beginning of the examination.

Candidates must select the "I agree" button to proceed. Candidates who do not agree or accidentally select the "Not Agree" button will not be allowed to test.

Candidates will have an opportunity to take a tutorial before proceeding to the actual examination. The time spent on the tutorial will not reduce the time allotted for the examination. Proctors will be able to answer questions regarding the operation of examination equipment, but will not answer any questions regarding examination content. Upon successful passing of the examination, Pearson VUE staff will generate a score report. Your ORIGINAL report must be sent to the NJDOH with your permit application as proof of passing the examination. **Copies of the score report will not be accepted.** You should keep a copy of the score report for your records. For more information on applying for your permit, call 609-826-4950.

WHAT TO BRING TO THE EXAMINATION

Required Materials

All candidates are required to bring identification that is deemed acceptable, as listed under *Acceptable Forms of Candidate Identification* below. On the day of the examination, candidates must bring the following to the test center:

- Two (2) forms of a signature-bearing identification (one must be photo-bearing).
- Original yellow-colored copy of the New Jersey Department of Health Lead Training Information Record (EHS-9)*

*Reciprocity candidates must bring the original signed letter on NJDOH letterhead indicating their eligibility to take the examination.

REQUIRED ITEMS

Candidates who do not present the required items will be denied admission to the examination, will be considered absent, and will forfeit the examination fee.

Acceptable Forms of Candidate Identification

Candidates must present **two (2) forms** of current signature identification. The primary identification must be government issued and photo-bearing with a signature. The secondary identification must contain a valid signature. Identification must be in English.

Primary ID (photograph and signature, not expired)

- Government-issued driver's license
- U.S. Dept. of State driver's license
- U.S. learner's permit (plastic card only with photo and signature)
- National/state/country ID
- Passport
- · Passport Card
- Military ID
- Military ID for spouses and dependents
- Alien Registration Card (Green Card, Permanent Resident Visa)

Secondary ID (signature, not expired)

- U.S. Social Security Card
- · Debit (ATM) card or Credit card
- Any form of ID on the Primary ID list

If the ID presented has an embedded signature that is not visible (microchip), or is difficult or impossible to read, the candidate must present another form of identification from the Primary ID or Secondary ID list that contains a visible signature.

Pearson VUE does not recognize grace periods. For example, if a candidate's driver's license expired yesterday and the state allows a 30-day grace period for renewing the ID, the ID is considered to be expired.

TEST CENTER POLICIES

The following policies are observed at each test center. Candidates who violate any of these policies will not be permitted to finish the examination and will be dismissed from the test center, forfeiting the examination fee.

- No personal items are allowed in the testing room. Personal items include but are not limited to cellular phones, hand-held computers or other electronic devices, pagers, watches, wallets, purses, firearms or other weapons, hats, bags, coats, books, and/ or notes, pens, or pencils.
- CALCULATORS ARE PERMITTED. Any type of calculator is allowed. However, test center staff must clear the memory before and after the exam.
- Candidates must store all personal items in a secure area as indicated by the administrator, or return items to their vehicle. All electronic devices must be turned off before storing them in a locker. The test center is not responsible for lost, stolen, or misplaced personal items.
- Studying is not allowed in the test center. Visitors, children, family, or friends are not allowed in the test center.
- Dictionaries, books, papers (including scratch paper), and reference materials are not permitted in the examination room (unless permitted by the NJ Department of Health), and candidates are strongly urged not to bring such materials to the test center. Upon entering and being seated in the testing room, the test administrator will provide the candidate with materials to make notes or calculations and any other items specified by the NJ Department of Health. The candidate may not write on these items before the exam begins or remove these items from the testing room.
- Eating, drinking, chewing gum, smoking, and/or making noise that creates a disturbance for other candidates is prohibited during the exam.
- Break policies are established by the NJ State Department of Health. Most sponsors allow unscheduled breaks. To request an unscheduled break, the candidate **must** raise his or her hand to get the administrator's attention. **The exam clock will not stop while the candidate is taking a break.**
- Candidates must leave the testing room for all breaks. However, candidates are not permitted to leave the floor or building
 for any reason during this time, unless specified by the administrator and the exam sponsor. If a candidate is discovered
 to have left the floor or building, he or she will not be permitted to proceed with the examination and may forfeit the exam fees.
- While taking a break, candidates are permitted to access personal items that are being stored during the exam only if necessary—
 for example, personal medication that must be taken at a specific time. However, a candidate must receive permission from
 the administrator prior to accessing personal items that have been stored. Candidates are not allowed access to other items,
 including but not limited to cellular phones, exam notes, and study guides, unless the exam sponsor specifically permits this.
- Any candidate discovered causing a disturbance of any kind or engaging in any kind of misconduct—giving or receiving help; using notes, books, or other aids; taking part in an act of impersonation; or removing examination materials or notes from the examination room—will be summarily dismissed from the examination and will be reported to the state licensing agency. Decisions regarding disciplinary measures are the responsibility of the NJ State Department of Health for prosecution in accordance with the requirements of N.J.A.C. 8:62.

CONTENT OUTLINES

LEAD SUPERVISOR FOR COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS AND SUPERSTRUCTURES

Below is the content outline for the Lead Supervisor for Commercial Buildings and Superstructures examination.

LEAD SUPERVISOR FOR COMMERCIAL BUILDINGS AND SUPERSTRUCTURES (100 Scored Items and 10 Pretest Items)

NUMBER OF CONTENT AREA TOPIC AREAS SCORED ITEMS General Topics Related to Background 30 Lead Regulations Health Effects Sources of Lead Sources of Exposure Safety Hazards Lead Detection/Analysis Sampling Methods Legal/Liability Topics Related to Work Medical Surveillance 60 **Practices and Procedures** Personal Protection **Exposure Monitoring Abatement Methods** Technology Contracts Cleanup Clearance Waste Disposal Record Keeping Topics Specific to Development of De-leading Work Plan 10 Commercial Buildings and Work Preparation Procedures Superstructures Environmental Monitoring: soil, dust, and air sampling Welding, Burning, and Torch Cutting

LEAD SUPERVISOR FOR HOUSING AND PUBLIC BUILDINGS

Below is the content outline for the Lead Supervisor for Housing and Public Buildings examination.

LEAD SUPERVISOR FOR HOUSING AND PUBLIC BUILDINGS

(100 Scored Items and 6 Pretest Items)

CONTENT AREA	TOPIC AREAS	NUMBER OF SCORED ITEMS
General Topics Related to Lead	Background Regulations Health Effects Sources of Lead Sources of Exposure Legal/Liability	25
Lead-Based Paint Abatement Methods and Technology	Roles and Responsibilities of a Lead-Based Paint Supervisor Abatement Methods Lead Detection/Analysis Technology Sampling Methods Cleanup Clearance Waste Disposal	35
Worker Protection	Medical Surveillance Personal Protection Exposure Monitoring Safety Hazards	21
Other Responsibilities of a Supervisor	Record Keeping Contract Specifications Development of De-leading Work Plan Project Management Supervisory Responsibilities Community Relations Process	19

LEAD INSPECTOR

Below is the content outline for the Lead Inspector examination.

LEAD INSPECTOR

(59 Scored Items and 6 Pretest Items)

(co coorea nome ana o riveces nome)		
CONTENT AREA	TOPIC AREAS	NUMBER OF SCORED ITEMS
General Topics Related to Lead	Background Regulations Health Effects Sources of Lead Sources of Exposure Legal/Liability	18
Lead-Based Paint Inspection and Other Procedures	Roles and Responsibilities of a Lead-Based Paint Inspectors Lead Detection/Analysis Technology Sampling Methods Cleanup Clearance Waste Disposal	30
Other Topics Related to Inspection	Personal Protection Exposure Monitoring Safety Hazards Record Keeping Interpretation of sampling Results Preparation of the final inspection report	11

LEAD RISK ASSESSOR

Following is the content outline for the Lead Risk Assessor examination.

LEAD RISK ASSESSOR (40 Scored Items and 5 Pretest Items)		
CONTENT AREA	TOPIC AREAS	NUMBER OF SCORED ITEMS
General Topics Related to Lead	Regulations Health Effects Sources of Lead Sources of Exposure Legal/Liability	14
Other Topics Related to Risk Assessment	Roles and Responsibilities of a Lead-Based Paint Risk Assessors Recommendations to abate or reduce lead-based paint hazards, including recommending interim controls Sampling methods Abatement methods and technology Collection of Background Information to Perform Risk Assessment Visual Inspection Lead Hazard Screen Waste Disposal Interpretation of Sampling Results Development of an Interim Control Plan Preparation of the Final Risk Assessment Report	26

SCORE EXPLANATION

Scaled Score

In some cases, there are multiple forms (versions) of each of the licensing examinations. Although all forms of an examination are developed based on the content outlines, difficulty may vary slightly because different questions appear on each form. To ensure no candidate is put at an unfair advantage or disadvantage, a statistical procedure known as equating is used to correct for differences in form difficulty.

The passing score of an examination was set by the New Jersey Department of Heath (in conjunction with Pearson VUE) after a comprehensive study was completed for each examination. Raw scores are converted into scaled scores that can range from 0 to 100. To avoid misuse of score information, numeric scores are only reported to failing candidates. The scaled score that is reported to you is neither the number of questions you answered correctly nor the percentage of questions you answered correctly. With a passing score of 70, any score below 70 indicates how close the candidate came to passing, rather than the actual number or percentage of questions the candidates answered correctly.

RETAKING THE EXAMINATION

Candidates who fail the examination may register to retake the examination. There is no limit to the number of times you may take the examination, however, you must successfully pass the examination (and submit your application) within one year of the completion of your initial lead training course. The fee for retaking the examination is the same as the initial fee (see *Examination Fees*, page 2). If you failed one portion of the Inspector/Risk Assessor exam, you must pay the full fee to take the portion you failed.

GENERAL INFORMATION

CANDIDATES MAY CALL 800-275-8346 TO MAKE AN EXAM RESERVATION.

Candidates may test at any of our US test centers.

TEST CENTERS
LOCATION
Atlantic City, NJ
Somerset, NJ
Princeton, NJ
Lyndhurst, NJ
Philadelphia, PA
Plymouth Meeting, PA
New York, NY

Locations and schedules are subject to change.

PEARSON VUE HOLIDAY SCHEDULE

No exams on the following holidays or holiday weekends:

New Year's Day

Martin Luther King, Jr. Day

Memorial Day

Independence Day

Labor Day

Thanksgiving Day

Christmas Day